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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

FORT LAUDERDALE DIVISION 

 

TAMARAH C. LOUIS and EMMANUEL G. LOUIS, 

JR., individually, and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, 

 

    Plaintiffs, 

 

    v. 

 

 
CASE NO.:  
 
CLASS ACTION 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

BLUEGREEN VACATIONS UNLIMITED, INC., a 

Florida corporation, 

 

    Defendant. 

 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs, TAMARAH C. LOUIS and EMMANUEL G. LOUIS, JR. (collectively 

“Plaintiffs”), individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, sues Defendant, 

BLUEGREEN VACATIONS UNLIMITED, INC. (“Bluegreen” or Defendant), a Florida 

corporation, and alleges:  

INTRODUCTION 

1. This Complaint seeks to enforce the Military Lending Act (“MLA”), 10 U.S.C. § 

987, which was enacted to protect members of the United States Military from an epidemic of 

predatory lending that endangers our Nation’s military readiness and impacts service member 

retention.  

2. Bluegreen is a company who finances loans for consumers to purchase interest in 

its vacation timeshare memberships nationwide. 

3. In December 2020, Plaintiffs Emmanuel G. Louis, Jr. (active-duty status with the 

United States Army at the time) and his spouse, Tamarah Louis (collectively “Plaintiffs”) obtained 
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financing to purchase a “Bluegreen Vacation Club” membership, which is a timeshare interest, 

from Bluegreen in Florida. To obtain the financing, Plaintiffs entered into the Bluegreen Owner 

Beneficiary Agreement (“Agreement”) with Bluegreen, that was subject to MLA requirements. 

Exhibit A (Plaintiffs Bluegreen Owner Beneficiary Agreement). 

4. Plaintiffs’ Agreement with Bluegreen is a standard form contract that Bluegreen 

employs nationwide, and requires all purchasers to hold the deed to their timeshare interest in the 

Bluegreen Vacation Club Trust (“Bluegreen Trust), which is a trust owned by Vacation Trust, Inc. 

(“Vacation Trust”).  In return, Bluegreen grants purchasers annual “Vacation Points” that can be 

used to make a reservation at a Bluegreen owned vacation destination of their liking. For example, 

a one-week rental at a Bluegreen Timeshare in Orlando could be 10,000 Vacation Points. Vacation 

Points are the currency of Bluegreen timeshares and points can be purchased and traded between 

Bluegreen beneficiaries. 

5. Plaintiffs’ Agreement with Bluegreen was subject to the MLA because Plaintiff 

Emmanuel G. Louis, Jr. was active-duty military at the time of Bluegreen’s Agreement to lend 

him and his spouse money for the timeshare interest. 

6. The MLA requires Bluegreen to make a reasonable inquiry, when lending money, 

as to whether the borrower is a covered member under the MLA or not. As part of the 

implementing regulations of the MLA, a database was created to assist lenders with the 

identification of the borrowers that Congress sought to protect. Bluegreen does not make any 

inquiry when consumers, such as Plaintiffs and Class Members, obtain financing, let alone a 

reasonable inquiry before offering financing to members of the United States Military, in violation 

of the MLA. As a result, Bluegreen fails to comply with the MLA’s requirements when lending 

for a timeshare interest. 
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7. For example, the MLA requires certain mandatory disclosures to each covered 

borrower: 

• A statement of the Military Annual Percentage Rate “MAPR” applicable to the extension 

of credit; 

 

• Any disclosure Regulation Z requires made in accordance with the applicable Regulation 

Z provisions;1 and 

 

• A clear description of the payment obligation, which can be either a payment schedule 

for closed-end credit, or account opening disclosures consistent with Regulation Z for 

open-end credit, as applicable. 

 

8. Bluegreen fails to provide any of these mandatory disclosures under the MLA, in 

fact, Plaintiffs were never provided a MAPR. Because of this, the APR in Plaintiff’s Agreement 

discloses an interest rate of 16.990%, but in reality, if Bluegreen had complied with the MLA and 

calculated an MAPR, their MAPR interest rate is actually 18.097 %. 

9. Additionally, the MLA prohibits lenders from requiring covered borrowers to 

submit to arbitration or other burdensome legal notice provisions in the case of a dispute. 

Bluegreen’s Agreement with Plaintiffs and Class Members requires mandatory arbitration, which 

is further evidence of Bluegreen completely ignoring the MLA. Exhibit A. 

10. In protecting our military members, as “Penalties and Remedies” for violations of 

the MLA, Congress requires that, “any credit agreement, promissory note, or other contract 

prohibited under this section is void from the inception of such contract.” 10 USC §987(f)(3). 

11. Upon information and belief, Bluegreen’s business practices that fail to comply 

with the MLA are not limited to its Florida locations, instead, it is a nationwide scheme in that it 

fails to make any inquiry to determine a borrower’s status that would prescribe MLA protections 

 

1 Bluegreen must provide the Regulation Z disclosures to the covered borrower before consummation of a closed-end 

transaction and before the first open-end transaction. See 12 CFR § 1026.17(b) and 12 CFR § 1026.5(b)(1)(i). 
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and disclosures. Because Bluegreen does not inquire of its borrowers about their status and because 

Bluegreen utilizes a standard form Agreement and method of calculation in determining the cost 

of credit disclosures on said contracts, this case is well suited for class action treatment for 

violations of the MLA.  

12. As a result of Bluegreen (a) failing to determine whether there is a covered 

borrower, and (b) failing to disclose a MAPR or how it was calculated, the APR that is disclosed 

to Plaintiffs and class members is significantly lower than the true MAPR. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

13. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 10 U.S.C.A. § 987, 28 

U.S.C. §1331 and 1337.  

14. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Plaintiff and Defendant because 

Defendant is a Florida corporation that is also headquartered in Florida. 

15. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 10 U.S.C.A. § 987 and 28 U.S. §1391.  

PARTIES 

16. At all times material hereto, Plaintiff Emmanuel G. Louis, Jr. was sui juris and a 

citizen of Florida  

17. At all material times hereto, Plaintiff Tamarah C. Louis was sui juris and a citizen 

of Florida. 

18. At all times material hereto, Bluegreen, was and is a Florida corporation, 

headquartered in Boca Raton, Florida. At all times material hereto, Bluegreen sold, sells, and 

finances timeshare interests throughout the United States, including Florida.  

19. At all times relevant hereto, Plaintiff Emmanuel G. Louis, Jr. was on active military 

duty status with the United States Army.  
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

The Military Lending Act, 10 U.S.C. §987  

20. The United States Congress passed the Military Lending Act of 2006 (hereinafter 

“MLA”) and was implemented as part of the John Warner National Defense Authorization Act for 

Fiscal Year 2007, Section 670, to protect military servicemembers from unfair or abusive loan or 

credit sale transactions, such as high interest, short-term, or installment loans to inexperienced 

military borrowers, who in years prior to enactment had fell victim to predatory lending. 

21. The MLA directs the Secretary of Defense (“DoD”) to prescribe regulations to 

carry out the MLA. The DoD regulation, 32 CFR Part 232, implementing the MLA, contains 

limitations on and requirements for certain types of consumer credit extended to active-duty 

service members and their spouses, children, and certain other dependents (“covered 

borrowers”).  Subject to certain exceptions, the regulation generally applies to persons who meet 

the definition of a creditor in Regulation Z and are engaged in the business of extending such 

consumer credit, as well as their assignees. 

22. That raises the question of what constitutes consumer credit? The MLA defines 

“consumer credit” as: 

(1) Credit offered or extended to a covered borrower primarily for personal, 

family, or household purposes, and that is:  

(i) Subject to a finance charge; or 

(ii) Payable by a written agreement in more than four installments. 

(2) Exceptions. Notwithstanding paragraph (f)(1) of this section, consumer credit 

does not mean: 

(i) A residential mortgage, which is any credit transaction secured by an 

interest in a dwelling, including a transaction to finance the purchase or 

initial construction of the dwelling, any refinance transaction, home equity 

loan or line of credit, or reverse mortgage; 
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(ii) Any credit transaction that is expressly intended to finance the 

purchase of a motor vehicle when the credit is secured by the vehicle 

being purchased;  

(iii) Any credit transaction that is expressly intended to finance the 

purchase of personal property when the credit is secured by the property 

being purchased;  

(iv) Any credit transaction that is an exempt transaction for the purposes 

of Regulation Z (other than a transaction exempt under 12 CFR 1026.29) 

or otherwise is not subject to disclosure requirements under Regulation Z; 

and  

(v) Any credit transaction or account for credit for which a creditor 

determines that a consumer is not a covered borrower by using a method 

and by complying with the recordkeeping requirement set forth in § 

232.5(b) 

32 CFR § 232.3 (emphasis added) 

23. A timeshare interest is not exempt from the MLA under 32 CFR § 232.3(f)(1) 

because it does not fall within the definition of a dwelling under the MLA. A dwelling means a 

residential structure that contains one to four units, whether or not the structure is attached to real 

property. The term includes an individual condominium unit, cooperative unit, mobile home, and 

manufactured home. 32 CFR § 232.3(k) 

24. Additionally, a key provision of both the initial regulation and the MLA sets a 

maximum “military annual percentage rate” (“MAPR”) of 36 percent for credit extended to 

Service members and their dependents. Importantly, the MAPR used for purposes of the MLA 

regulation includes application fees and certain other fees not counted as finance charges when 

calculating the annual percentage rate under TILA and Regulation Z.  

25. Thus, the MAPR should include 1) any credit insurance premium or fee, any charge 

for single premium credit insurance, any fee for a debt cancellation contract, or any fee for a debt 

suspension agreement and 2) any fee for a credit-related ancillary product sold in connection with 
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the credit transaction for closed-end credit or an account for open-end credit pursuant to 32 C.F.R. 

§ 232.4. 

26. Moreover, the MLA requires certain disclosure when a lender extends “consumer 

credit” to covered borrowers: 

 

• A statement of the MAPR applicable to the extension of credit; 

 

• Any disclosure Regulation Z requires made in accordance with the applicable 

Regulation Z provisions; and 

 

• A clear description of the payment obligation, which can be either a payment 

schedule for closed-end credit, or account opening disclosures consistent with 

Regulation Z for open-end credit, as applicable. 

 

27. Specifically, the statement of the MAPR need not contain the MAPR for the 

transaction as a numerical value or dollar amount of charges in the MAPR. Instead, it must describe 

the charges you may impose, consistent with the MLA and terms of the agreement, to calculate 

the MAPR. The MLA provides a model statement and lenders may use the model statement or a 

substantially similar statement. 

28. The disclosures must be written and provided in a form the covered borrower can 

keep. In addition to the written disclosures, lenders must orally provide the information in the 

statement of MAPR and in the description of the payment obligation. You may do so in person or 

via a toll-free telephone number. If applicable, the toll-free telephone number must be on the 

application or on the written disclosures. 

29. The MLA places a duty on creditors to determine whether a potential borrower is a 

“covered borrower,” and provides an easy to implement safe harbor to protect a creditor from 

liability if they reasonably implement the procedure. Specifically, the MLA permits creditors to 

use two methods when ascertaining whether a consumer is a covered borrower for purposes of the 
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MLA’s protections: (1) The MLA Database maintained by the Department of Defense, and (2) 

consumer reports from a nationwide credit reporting agency. 

30. There are timing requirements for determining covered borrower status: lenders 

may determine covered borrower status, and keep the record of information obtained, only at the 

time: 

a) A covered borrower initiates the transaction, or 30 days before that time; 

b) A covered borrower applies to establish the account or 30 days before that time. 

31. The MLA also prohibits creditors from requiring military borrowers to submit to 

arbitration and waive legal rights, such as an award of punitive damages, under state and federal 

law.  

32. Bluegreen systematically fails to comply with these MLA requirements nationwide 

in their contracts with covered borrowers nationwide, who signed a contract substantially similar 

to the Agreement between Plaintiff and Bluegreen. Exhibit A. 

33. For violations of the MLA, Congress has required the following damages,” any 

actual damage sustained as a result, but not less than $500 for each violation” and “any credit 

agreement, promissory note, or other contract prohibited under this section is void from the 

inception of such contract.” 10 USC §987 

Bluegreen 

34. Bluegreen is a lending creditor for timeshare interests throughout the United States.  

35. Bluegreen has financed thousands of timeshares totaling millions of dollars.  

36. It currently has over 65 timeshare locations and has provided tens of millions of 

dollars in timeshare loans to thousands of borrowers.  
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37. Upon information and belief, Bluegreen employs standard form Owner Beneficiary 

Agreement for loans at all of their locations across the United States, with no relevant variations. 

Exhibit 1 (Plaintiffs’ Owner Beneficiary Agreement). 

38. Despite the MLA’s grant of a safe harbor if either of these methods are used, upon 

information and belief, Bluegreen systematically fails to implement policies and procedures to 

ascertain whether a consumer is a military borrower subject to the MLA protections just as it did 

in the case of the Plaintiffs. Additionally, Bluegreen fails to make even the most basic inquiry as 

to whether its borrowers are subject to the MLA as part of its application process.  

39. Additionally, Bluegreen has uniformly and systematically failed to implement 

policies and procedures to ensure compliance with the MLA’s mandatory written and oral 

disclosures and limitations as part of their standard form Owner Beneficiary Agreements that 

Bluegreen uses uniformly throughout the United States. There is no mention of MLA protections 

appearing anywhere on Plaintiffs’ Owner Beneficiary Agreement and none were provided. 

40. Bluegreen’s Owner Beneficiary Agreement that Plaintiffs and class members 

signed fails to describe the charges Bluegreen may impose, consistent with the MLA and terms of 

the agreement, and how Bluegreen calculates the MAPR. Exhibit A. 

41. For all covered borrowers, Bluegreen systematically fails to provide the mandatory 

oral disclosures, which includes the information in the statement of MAPR and in the description 

of the payment obligation. Bluegreen fails to do so in person and does not have a toll-free telephone 

number to call to receive them.  Additionally, there is no toll-free telephone number on the 

application nor on the written disclosures 

42. Bluegreen’s standard form Owner Beneficiary Agreement that Plaintiffs and class 

members signed contains a mandatory arbitration agreement in violation of the MLA. Exhibit A. 
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43. For covered borrowers, all of the Owner Beneficiary Agreements are void from 

inception because the MLA declares, “any credit agreement, promissory note, or other contract 

prohibited under this section is void from the inception of such contract.” 10 USC §987. 

Plaintiffs’ Loan 

44. Plaintiff Emmanuel G. Louis, Jr. currently serves in the United States Army. 

Tamarah C. Louis is his spouse.  

45. On December 20, 2020, Plaintiffs signed a standard Owner Beneficiary Agreement 

with Bluegreen in order to obtain financing for a timeshare located at The Resort at World Golf 

Village Condominium, location in St. Augustine, Florida. A copy of the Owner Beneficiary 

Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

46. Bluegreen was a “creditor” which provided “credit” to Servicemember Plaintiff 

Emmanuel G. Louis, Jr. and his dependent Plaintiff Tamarah C. Louis as those terms are defined 

in 32 C.F.R. §232.3(h) and (i). 

47. To obtain financing, Plaintiffs provided their social security number and other 

credit information to Bluegreen.  Bluegreen failed to provide any of the mandatory MLA 

disclosures to Plaintiffs of their rights pursuant to the MLA. 

48. In the “Purchase Terms” in Bluegreen’s standard form Owner Beneficiary 

Agreement with Plaintiffs, the total amount Bluegreen financed to Plaintiffs stated $10,350.00 and 

the annual percentage rate was stated as 16.990%. Exhibit A. No Military Annual Percentage Rate 

(MAPR) was stated on any document provided to Plaintiffs. 

49. Bluegreen’s standard form Owner Beneficiary Agreement fails to properly disclose 

the accurate finance charges as defined by the MLA, fails to provide the standard written MLA 

disclosures, and because the original creditors do not provide oral disclosures, the Agreements fail 
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to provide a method to obtain the oral disclosures as required by the MLA and the Code of Federal 

Regulations. Each of these failures are separate violations the MLA, which renders the contract 

void. 10 USC §987. 

50. Bluegreen’s standard form Owner Beneficiary Agreement also contains a 

paragraph labeled “Mandatory Arbitration,” which requires Plaintiffs to submit to arbitration for 

any dispute arising with Bluegreen, which is unlawful under the MLA and is a separate violation 

of the MLA, “Notwithstanding section 2 of title 9, or any other Federal or State law, rule, or 

regulation, no agreement to arbitrate any dispute involving the extension of consumer credit shall 

be enforceable against any covered member or dependent of such a member, or any person who 

was a covered member or dependent of that member when the agreement was made.” 10 U.S.C. 

§987(f)(4). 

51. Upon information and belief, Bluegreen has entered into thousands of contracts 

financing credit-related costs identical to Plaintiffs’ Agreement, which also include unlawful 

mandatory arbitration provisions.  

52. Each Bluegreen standard form Owner Beneficiary Agreement executed by a 

servicemember, their spouse or a dependent of a servicemember is void under the MLA where it 

(a) fails to provide the written and oral disclosures required by the MLA, and (b) contains a 

mandatory arbitration clause. 10 U.S.C. §987. 

53. Bluegreen’s failure to provide the required MLA MAPR written and oral 

disclosures caused Plaintiffs actual damages because his true MAPR is 18.097%, which is higher 

than the APR of 16.990% that was disclosed and calculated in the Agreement between Plaintiffs 

and Bluegreen. Plaintiffs’ MAPR is calculated as follows: 
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54. Bluegreen’s failure to provide the MAPR resulted in Plaintiffs’ MAPR being higher 

than the APR that they thought he was paying. As a result, Plaintiffs thought they were paying an 

interest rate of 16.990%, but in reality, their concealed MAPR was much higher.  

55. As a result of Bluegreen’s MLA violations, Plaintiffs have suffered actual damages 

because they paid money to defendant based on an illegal contract without the benefit of the MLA 

disclosures and are entitled to rescission of contract. 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

56. Plaintiffs bring this case as a class action, pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure. The proposed “Class” includes the following:  

MLA Disclosure Class: All covered borrowers, as defined under the MLA, who 

entered into an Owner Beneficiary Agreement with Bluegreen in substantially the 

same form as Exhibit A that did not contain a Military Annual Percentage Rate 

(MAPR) disclosure. 

57. Expressly excluded from the Class are: (a) any Judge or Magistrate presiding over 

this action and members of their families; (b) Defendant and any entity in which Defendant has a 

controlling interest, or which has a controlling interest in Defendant, and its legal representatives, 

assigns and successors; and (c) all persons who properly execute and file a timely request for 

exclusion from the Class.  
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58. Plaintiffs reserve the right to amend the Class definition if further investigation and 

discovery indicates that the Class definition should be narrowed, expanded, or otherwise modified.  

Rule 23(a) Criteria 

 

59. Numerosity. Bluegreen’s scheme has harmed and continues to harm military 

consumers. The members of the proposed Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  

60. The exact number of Class members is unknown as such information is in the 

exclusive control of Bluegreen. However, upon information and belief, Bluegreen is a large lender 

in the timeshare industry in the United States. It currently has thousands of customers and over 65 

timeshare locations.  

61. Commonality. Common questions of law and fact affect the right of each Class 

member and common relief by way of damages is sought for Plaintiffs and Class members.  

62. The harm that Bluegreen has caused or could cause is substantially uniform with 

respect to Class members. Common questions of law and fact that affect the Class members 

include, but are not limited to:  

a. Whether Bluegreen entered into standard form Owner Beneficiary 

Agreement with servicemembers and their dependents; 

b. Whether the cost of the timeshare interest is consumer credit under the 

MLA; 

c. Whether Bluegreen failed to provide required MLA written and oral 

disclosures; 

d. Whether Bluegreen failed to provide accurate MAPR disclosures; 
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e. Whether Bluegreen’s standard form Owner Beneficiary Agreement contain 

an arbitration clause in violation of the MLA; 

f. Whether Bluegreen failed to determine if Plaintiffs and class members were 

covered borrowers; 

g. Whether the Owner Beneficiary Agreements are void and what the 

appropriate remedy should be; and 

h. Whether members of the Class have sustained damages in addition to 

statutory damages and, if so, the proper measure of such damages; 

63. Typicality. The claims and defenses of the representative Plaintiffs are typical of 

the claims and defenses of the Class because Plaintiff Emmanuel G. Louis, Jr. is an active-duty 

member of the United States Military along with his spouse Tamarah C. Louis and this transaction 

with the Bluegreen was typical of the type of timeshare purchase arrangement that Bluegreen 

normally does. The documents involved in the transaction were standard form documents and the 

violations are statutory in nature. Plaintiffs suffered statutory and actual damages of the same type 

and in the same manner as the Class he seeks to represent. There is nothing peculiar about 

Plaintiffs’ claims.  

64. Adequacy. The representative Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately assert and 

protect the interests of the Class. Plaintiffs have no conflict of interest that will interfere with 

maintenance of this class action. They have hired attorneys who are experienced in prosecuting 

class action claims and consumer protection laws and will adequately represent the interests of the 

class.  

Rule 23 (b) Criteria 

65. Predominance and Superiority. A class action provides a fair and efficient method 

for the adjudication of this controversy for the following reasons:  
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a. The common questions of law and fact set forth herein predominate over 

any questions affecting only individual Class members. The statutory 

claims under the MLA require a simple identification of those consumers 

who are covered members under the statute accomplished through the MLA 

database, an act that could have and should have been done at the time of 

application.  

b. The Class is so numerous as to make joinder impracticable. However, the 

Class is not so numerous as to create manageability problems. There are no 

unusual legal or factual issues that would create manageability problems; 

c. Prosecution of a separate action by individual members of the Class would 

create a risk of inconsistent and varying adjudications against Defendant 

when confronted with incompatible standards of conduct; 

d. Adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class could, as a 

practical matter, be dispositive of any interest of other members not parties 

to such adjudications, or substantially impair their ability to protect their 

interests; 

e. Upon information and belief, Bluegreen is responsible for violating the 

MLA within this District, making this forum appropriate for the litigation 

of the claims of the entire Class; there are very few attorneys in the United 

States with any expertise or experience in this nascent area of law making 

it nearly impossible for class members to find adequate representation; and 

the claims of the individual Class members are small in relation to the 

expenses and efforts required by the litigation, making a Class action the 
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only procedural method of redress in which Class members can, as a 

practical matter, recover. 

66. Bluegreen has acted and refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Class, 

thereby making declaratory relief and corresponding final injunctive relief under Rule 23(b)(2) 

appropriate with respect to the Classes as a whole. Bluegreen should be enjoined from financing 

to consumers without making a reasonable effort to determine whether a borrower is protected by 

the MLA, and from entering into agreements with covered borrowers without providing mandated 

written and oral disclosures so that servicemembers and their dependents can base their credit 

decisions on correct costs of credit disclosures required by the MLA. Bluegreen should 

additionally be enjoined from including arbitration clauses in their Owner Beneficiary Agreements 

that are subject to MLA protection. 

COUNT I 

Violation of the Military Lending Act 

10 U.S.C. §987(c)(1) 

(MLA Disclosure Class) 

 

67. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 66 as if set 

forth herein in full. 

68. Servicemember Plaintiff Emmanuel G. Louis, Jr. was a “covered borrower” and 

“covered member” as those terms are defined pursuant to 32 C.F.R. § 232.3(g).  

69. Plaintiff Tamarah C. Louis was a “covered borrower” and “covered member” as 

those terms are defined pursuant to 32 C.F.R. § 232.3(g) as a dependent. 

70. Bluegreen was a “creditor” which provided “credit” to Servicemember Plaintiff 

Emmanuel G. Louis, Jr. and his dependent Plaintiff Tamarah C. Louis as those terms are defined 

in 32 C.F.R. §232.3(h) and (i).  
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71. On December 20, 2020, Plaintiffs entered into a standard form Owner Beneficiary 

Agreement with Bluegreen, which was utilized for all Class members, that financed credit-related 

costs in amounts in excess of the costs of Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ timeshares, subjecting 

Bluegreen to MLA regulations. 

72. Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ standard form Owner Beneficiary Agreements do 

not provide required MLA written and oral disclosures in the manner required by 10 U.S.C. § 987 

and 32 CFR § 232.6. 

73. Specifically, MLA requires the following mandatory loan disclosures be made to a 

covered borrower before or at the time the borrower becomes obligated on a closed-end transaction 

of the type involved here:  

A. A statement of the applicable MAPR; 

B. Any disclosures required by Regulation Z; 

C. A clear description of the payment obligation which would include a payment 

schedule for this closed-end credit. 

 

74. The written MAPR disclosures do not need to be expressed in a numerical value 

and may be made in the contract itself or may be given on a separate document. The CFR even 

provides in section (c)(3) model disclosure language to satisfy this requirement which explains to 

the borrower costs of credit transaction by describing some of the fees and costs that must be 

included in the annual percentage rate.     

75. Bluegreen did not provide a MAPR disclosure orally or written to Plaintiffs and 

class members. 

76. The annual percentage rate when properly calculated pursuant to the MLA is known 

as the Military Annual Percentage Rate or “MAPR” and should include 1) any credit insurance 

premium or fee, any charge for single premium credit insurance, any fee for a debt cancellation 

contract, or any fee for a debt suspension agreement and 2) any fee for a credit-related ancillary 
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product sold in connection with the credit transaction for closed-end credit or an account for open-

end credit pursuant to 32 C.F.R. § 232.4. Using an MAPR calculator, the true MAPR for Plaintiffs 

was 18.097% and not 16.990%. Bluegreen did not include these costs in its cost of credit 

disclosures to Plaintiffs or to Class members.  

77. Plaintiffs and Class members incurred damages as a direct and proximate result of 

Bluegreen’s violation of 10 U.S.C. § 987(c)(1) by their standard form Owner Beneficiary 

Agreements by failing to provide the mandatory MLA disclosures under 10 U.S.C. § 987(c)(1).  

78. The MLA’s “Penalties and Remedies” subsection provides, in part, that “any credit 

agreement, promissory note, or other contract prohibited under this section is void from the 

inception of such contract.” 10 U.S.C. § 987(f)(3).  

79. The United States Supreme Court has held that “when Congress declare[s] in [a 

statute] that certain contracts are void, it intend[s] that the customary legal incidents of voidness 

follow, including the availability of a suit for rescission or for an injunction against continued 

operation of the contract, and for restitution.” Transamerica Mortg. Advisors, Inc. (TAMA) v. 

Lewis, 444 U.S. 11, at 19 (1979).  

80. As a direct and proximate cause of Bluegreen’s violation, Plaintiffs and the Class 

are entitled to statutory damages of $500 per violation, actual and punitive damages along with 

injunctive relief pursuant to the MLA 10 U.S.C. § 987(f)(5)(A).  

81. As a result of Bluegreen’s MLA violations, Plaintiffs have suffered actual damages 

because they paid money to defendant based on an illegal contract without the benefit of the MLA 

disclosures and are entitled to rescission of contract. 

82. Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to the MLA 

10 U.S.C. § 987(f)(5)(B).  
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COUNT II 

Violation of the Military Lending Act 

10 U.S.C. §987(c)(1) 

(MLA TILA Disclosure Class) 

 

83. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 66 as if set 

forth herein. 

84. Servicemember Plaintiff Emmanuel G. Louis, Jr. was a “covered borrower” and 

“covered member” as those terms are defined pursuant to 32 C.F.R. § 232.3(g).  

85. Plaintiff Tamarah C. Louis was a “covered borrower” and “covered member” as 

those terms are defined pursuant to 32 C.F.R. § 232.3(g) as a dependent. 

86. Bluegreen was a “creditor” which provided “credit” to Servicemember Plaintiff as 

those terms are defined in 32 C.F.R. § 232.3(h) and (i).  

87. On December 20, 2020, Plaintiffs entered into a standard form Owner Beneficiary 

Agreement with Bluegreen, which was utilized for all Class members, that financed credit-related 

costs in amounts in excess of the costs of Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ timeshares, subjecting 

Bluegreen to MLA regulations. 

88. Specifically, the identifiable credit-related cost Bluegreen financed was an 

Administrative Fee ($450.00). See Exhibit A.  

89. Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ standard form Owner Beneficiary Agreements 

provide standard TILA disclosures which do not include these costs in the disclosures and, 

therefore, under-disclosed the true cost of credit to Plaintiff and Class members under the Owner 

Beneficiary Agreements. In other words, the costs of their credit is significantly more than the 

Bluegreen disclosures state and in the case of the Plaintiffs’ MPAR was 1.107% higher than what 

was listed in the TILA disclosures: 
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90. The MLA requires the following mandatory loan disclosures: 

(1)  Information required.--With respect to any extension of consumer credit 

(including any consumer credit originated or extended through the internet) to a covered 

member or a dependent of a covered member, a creditor shall provide to the member or 

dependent the following information orally and107 in writing before the issuance of the 

credit: 

(A) A statement of the annual percentage rate of interest applicable to the 

extension of credit. 

(B) Any disclosures required under the Truth in Lending Act (15 U.S.C.1601 et 

seq.). 

(C) A clear description of the payment obligations of the member or dependent, 

as applicable. 

91. The annual percentage rate when properly calculated pursuant to the MLA is known 

as the Military Annual Percentage Rate or “MAPR” and should include 1) any credit insurance 

premium or fee, any charge for single premium credit insurance, any fee for a debt cancellation 

contract, or any fee for a debt suspension agreement and 2) any fee for a credit-related ancillary 

product sold in connection with the credit transaction for closed-end credit or an account for open-

end credit. 32 C.F.R. § 232.4. The true MAPR for Plaintiffs was 18.097 % and not 16.990%. 

Bluegreen did not include these costs in its cost of credit disclosures to Plaintiffs or to Class 

members.  
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92. Specifically, Bluegreen failed to include at minimum the following credit-related 

costs in its APR calculation: an administrative fee ($450.00). See Exhibit A.  

93. Plaintiffs and Class members incurred damages as a direct and proximate result of 

Bluegreen’s violation of 10 U.S.C. § 987(c)(1). Plaintiffs and Class members have been harmed 

and suffered actual damages (as defined by the MLA) by their standard form Owner Beneficiary 

Agreements failing to provide the mandatory MLA disclosures under 10 U.S.C. § 987(c)(1).  

94. The MLA’s “Penalties and Remedies” subsection provides, in part, that “any credit 

agreement, promissory note, or other contract prohibited under this section is void from the 

inception of such contract.” 10 U.S.C. § 987(f)(3).  

95. The United States Supreme Court has held that “when Congress declare[s] in [a 

statute] that certain contracts are void, it intend[s] that the customary legal incidents of voidness 

follow, including the availability of a suit for rescission or for an injunction against continued 

operation of the contract, and for restitution.” Transamerica Mortg. Advisors, Inc. (TAMA) v. 

Lewis, 444 U.S. 11, at 19 (1979).  

96. As a direct and proximate cause of Bluegreen’s violation, Plaintiffs and the Class 

are entitled statutory damages of $500 per violation, actual and punitive damages along with 

injunctive relief pursuant to the MLA 10 U.S.C. § 987(f)(5)(A).  

97. As result of Bluegreen’s MLA violations, Plaintiffs have suffered actual damages 

because they paid money to defendant based on an illegal contract without the benefit of the MLA 

disclosures and are entitled to a rescission of their contract. 

98. Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to the MLA 

10 U.S.C. § 987(f)(5)(B).  
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COUNT III 

Violation of the Military Lending Act 

10 U.S.C. 987 (e)(3) 

(On Behalf of the Arbitration Clause Class) 

 

99. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 66 as if set 

forth herein.  

100. Servicemember Plaintiff Emmanuel G. Louis, Jr. was a “covered borrower” and 

“covered member” as those terms are defined pursuant to 32 C.F.R. § 232.3(g). 

101. Plaintiff Tamarah C. Louis was a “covered borrower” and “covered member” as 

those terms are defined pursuant to 32 C.F.R. § 232.3(g) as a dependent. 

102. Bluegreen was a “creditor” which provided “credit” to Plaintiff as those terms are 

defined in 32 C.F.R. §232.3(h) and (i). 

103.  On December 20, 2020, Plaintiffs entered into a standard form Owner Beneficiary 

Agreement with Bluegreen, which was utilized for all Class members, that financed credit-related 

costs in amounts in excess of the costs of Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ timeshares, subjecting 

Bluegreen to MLA regulations. 

104. Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ Owner Beneficiary Agreements contain a 

mandatory arbitration clause under the paragraph titled “MANDATORY ARBITRATION” which 

states that it applies to “all claims, disputes, actions questions, or differences, whether based in or 

upon contract, tort, statute, fraud, deception, misrepresentation or any other legal theory. . . .” See 

Exhibit A.  

105. The MLA 10 U.S.C. § 987(e)(3) declares that requiring covered borrowers to 

submit to arbitration is unlawful:  

Limitations. —It shall be unlawful for any creditor to extend consumer credit to a 

covered member or a dependent of such a member with respect to which—  
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(3)  the creditor requires the borrower to submit to arbitration or imposes onerous 

legal notice provisions in the case of a dispute.  

106. Bluegreen’s Owner Beneficiary Agreement’s mandatory arbitration provision 

violates Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ MLA 10 U.S.C. § 987(e)(3) rights prohibiting agreements 

that require arbitration to resolve disputes.   

107. As a direct and proximate result of Bluegreen’s violation of 10 U.S.C. §987(e)(3). 

Plaintiffs and Class members have been harmed and suffered actual damages (as defined by the 

MLA) by their standard form Owner Beneficiary Agreements containing unlawful provisions 

requiring arbitration to resolve disputes with Bluegreen.  

108. The MLA’s “Penalties and Remedies” subsection provides, in part, that “any credit 

agreement, promissory note, or other contract prohibited under this section is void from the 

inception of such contract.” 10 U.S.C. § 987(f)(3).  

109. The United States Supreme Court has held that “when Congress declare[s]in [a 

statute] that certain contracts are void, it intend[s] that the customary legal incidents of voidness 

follow, including the availability of a suit for rescission or for an injunction against continued 

operation of the contract, and for restitution.” Transamerica Mortg. Advisors, Inc. (TAMA) v. 

Lewis, 444 U.S. 11, at 19 (1979).  

110. Thus, all Bluegreen Owner Beneficiary Agreements substantially similar to 

Plaintiffs’ Owner Beneficiary Agreement entered into with a covered borrower and/or dependent 

containing a “mandatory arbitration” are void, must be either reformed or rescinded, and restitution 

must be paid for all amounts paid by class members to Bluegreen, “[b]y declaring certain contracts 

void, [the MLA] by its terms necessarily contemplates that the issue of voidness under its criteria 

may be litigated somewhere[,]” for “[a] person with the power to void a contract ordinarily may 

resort to a court to have the contract rescinded and to obtain restitution of consideration paid.” Id. 
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at 18, 100 S.Ct. 242. This scheme “displays a [congressional] intent to create not just a private 

right but also a private remedy.” Alexander v. Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275, at 286 (2001) (citing 

Transamerica, 444 U.S. at 15, 100 S.Ct. 242).  

111. Plaintiffs and the Class seek statutory damages in the amount of $500 per statutory 

violation, actual and punitive damages, along with injunctive relief pursuant to the MLA 10 U.S.C. 

§ 987(f)(5)(A).  

112. As a result of Bluegreen’s MLA violations, Plaintiffs have suffered actual damages 

because they paid money to defendant based on an illegal contract without the benefit of the MLA 

disclosures and are entitled to rescission of contract. 

113. Plaintiffs and the Class seek attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to the MLA 10 

U.S.C. § 987(f)(5)(B).  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs prays that the Court enter an Order:  

 

A. Certifying this action as a class action as provided by Rule 23 of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure, appointing Plaintiffs as Class Representatives, and appointing undersigned as 

Class Counsel;  

B. Declaring that Bluegreen violated the MLA, and adjudging that Plaintiffs’ and 

Class members’ Owner Beneficiary Agreements are void and determining appropriate relief in the 

form of rescission, restitution or reformation;  

C. Adjudging that Bluegreen violated the MLA and award Plaintiffs and Class 

members statutory damages of $500 per violation, actual and punitive damages pursuant to 10 

U.S.C. § 987(f)(5)(A);  
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D. Awarding Plaintiffs, and all those similarly situated, reasonable attorneys’ fees and 

costs incurred in this action pursuant to 10 U.S.C. § 987(f)(5)(B);  

E. Enjoining Bluegreen from financing to consumers without making a reasonable 

effort to determine whether a borrower is protected by the MLA;  

F. Enjoining Bluegreen from further violating the MLA with their Owner Beneficiary 

Agreements and requiring future contracts with covered borrowers to provide proper disclosures 

pursuant to the MLA; 

G. Awarding Plaintiffs, and all those similarly situated, any pre-judgment and post-

judgment interest as may be allowed under the law; and  

H. Awarding such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.  

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

 

Plaintiff demands a jury trial on all issues so triable.  

 

Dated: September 14, 2021       

Janet R. Varnell, FBN: 0071072 

Matthew T. Peterson, FBN: 1020720 

VARNELL & WARWICK, P.A. 

1101 E. Cumberland Ave. 

Suite 201H, #105 

Tampa, Florida 33602 

Tel: 352-753-8600 

Fax: 352-504-3301 

jvarnell@vandwlaw.com 

mpeterson@vandwlaw.com 

 

Counsel for Plaintiffs, individually and on 

behalf of all others similarly situated 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that on September 14, 2021, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 

Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system which will send notification of such filing to all 

counsel of record.  

       /s/ Janet R. Varnell    
      Janet R. Varnell 
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